
BOARD MEMBERS                    STAFF 
 
Jim Graw, Chairman         Peter A. Frisina, Director of Community Services 
Brian Haren, Vice-Chairman  Dennis Dutton, Zoning Administrator 
John H. Culbreth, Sr.   Chanelle Blaine, Planning and Zoning Coordinator  
Al Gilbert 
Arnold L. Martin, III     
______________________________________________________________________________________                                                                                

 
AGENDA 

FAYETTE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
140 STONEWALL AVENUE WEST 

NOVEMBER 19, 2015 
7:00 pm                       

________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
1. Consideration of the Minutes of the Meeting held on November 5, 2015. 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
2.  Consideration of a Minor Subdivision Plat of the Michael Mask Estate for Michael Mask 

consists of 2 single-family residential lots on 11.086 acres. The property is located in 
Land Lots 134 & 135 of the 4th District and fronts on Old Greenville Road.  

 
3. Consideration of a Minor Subdivision Plat of Brent Fayette, LLC for Brent Fayette, LLC 

consists of 9 single-family residential lots on 65.16 acres. The property is located in Land 
Lots 199 of the 4th District and fronts on Snead Road.  

 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 

 
4. Discussion of Amendments to the Fayette County Code of Ordinances, Chapter110. 

Article V., Sec. 110-169. Conditional use approval., to eliminate buffers between the 
following Conditional Uses in a residential or A-R zoning district: Cemetery, human or 
pet, Child care facility, Church and/or other place of worship, College and/or university, 
Hospital, Private school, or Recreation centers owned by nonprofit organizations as so 
registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office. 

 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
5. Discussion of the SR 85 and SR 74 intersection. 
 
 

1



THE FAYETTE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION met on November 5, 2015 at 7:00 P.M. in the 
Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville, Georgia. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Jim Graw, Chairman  
 Brian Haren, Vice-Chairman 
 John H. Culbreth  
 Al Gilbert  
 Arnold Martin, III  
  
     
STAFF PRESENT: Pete Frisina, Director of Community Services 
 Dennis Dutton, Zoning Administrator   
 Patrick Stough, County Attorney 
  
Welcome and Call to Order: 
 
Chairman Graw called the Planning Commission Meeting to order.  Chairman Graw introduced the 
Commission Members and Staff.  Chairman Graw stated that he was coming down with laryngitis and asked 
Vice-Chairman Haren to take over. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * 
1. Consideration of the Minutes of the Meeting held on October 15, 2015. 
 
Al Gilbert made a motion to approve the minutes.  John Culbreth seconded the motion.  The motion passed 5-
0.   

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
2.  Consideration of a Final Plat Revision for Canoe Club at Waterlace, Pod D for SELAF Fayette 

Holding Company, LLC.  Pod D consists of 42 single-family residential lots on 49.97 acres. The 
property is located in Land Lots 6, 7, 26, & 27 of the 7th District and fronts on Discovery Lake 
Drive, Rowboat Drive, and Crescent Creek Drive. 

 
Mark Jones representative for SELAF Holding Company stated he was requesting approval for the final plat 
for Canoe Club.  
 
Al Gilbert made a motion to approve the final plat conditioned upon signature correction.  Arnold 
Martin seconded the motion.  
 
John Culbreth asked the question if the developer discussed the plans with the surrounding neighborhood.  
 
Mark Jones answered that the plat revision was approved in 2007.  He stated that conversations were had by 
the developer and surrounding neighborhoods back in 2007, but he was unaware of any present discussions. 
 
Dennis Dutton stated this was a preliminary plat that was revised due to some connection issues with the road.  
He said that this plat was an interior piece to a larger development called Waterlace.  He added that the 
revised plans have been approved and the developer is coming to have the final plat approved. 
 
John Culbreth stated that he was clear. 
 
The motion passed 5-0. 

2



 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 

 
3. Consideration of Petition No. 1251-15, Ruth M. Sitton, Owner, and Al Gaskins, Agent, request 

to rezone 4.238 acres from A- R to R-70 to develop a Single-Family Residential Lot.  This 
property is located in Land Lot(s) 169 and 170 of the 4th District and fronts on Antioch Road. 

 
Al Gaskins representative for Ruth Sitton read the following statement: 
 

Members of the Planning Commission 
 
Good evening, my name is Al Gaskins. I am representing Mrs. Ruth Sitton for her 
request to rezone 4.238 acres of her 9.341 acres from A-R to R-70 located at 1101 
Antioch Road Fayetteville, Georgia in order for her daughter and son in law to 
build a house next to her.  They would like to do this be able to assist Mrs. Sitton 
as her husband passed away in 2011 and she is getting to the age of assistance. 
 
We acknowledge that the existing zoning requires a minimum of 5 acres for a 
buildable lot but there are circumstances that we believe should be taken in to 
consideration.  
 

1.  In 1976 when the Sittons purchased the property, it was a total of 10.60 
acres. Since that time a portion of the property was taken for right-of-way 
for Antioch road to be improved and a portion for the construction of Lake 
Horton leaving less than 10 acres. 

 
2. Although the Fayette County comprehensive plan calls for 5 acre 
minimum in the A-R zoning, there are existing lots that do not meet that 
requirement.  The property located at 1079 Antioch Road for example is 
directly in front and beside the property we wished to be rezoned is only 2 
acres. In 2007, Hammock Bay at Lake Horton subdivision located on 
Antioch Road and almost touches the subject property also has lots with less 
than 5 acres.  There are really too many properties in the A-R zoning district 
less than 5 acres to list here tonight. 

 
In conclusion, I wish to point out that if rezoned it will not be burdensome to 
roads, utilities or schools as per the zoning staff report.  It appears the only 
negative is that if rezoned, it COULD provide legal leverage of other properties in 
the future.  I hope we can all agree that there are times when circumstances require 
a little leniency, such as the case mentioned before i.e. 1079 Antioch Road. So, I 
respectfully ask that you approve this rezoning. Thank you.    

 
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if anyone wanted to speak in favor of the rezoning. 
 
Ruth Sitton, owner of the property stated that she has lived on Antioch Road for 40 years.  She said that she 
has enjoyed living there and would enjoy it more if she had someone living next to her.  She thanked them for 
their vote.  
 
Tom Lord, Ruth Sitton’s son-in-law, stated that he understood the purpose of the land use plan and 
understood that it’s been many years since it’s been implemented.  He said that he understood why it was 
implemented at the time but he believes that the board has the ability to apply discretion to the policy.  He 
added that if there is no discretion there would be no reason for the board to meet.  He stated that it made 
sense for a family member to build a home next door to Ms. Sitton so she can remain in her home for the rest 

3



of her life.  He said that it would be a shame to allow the verbiage from the land use agreement to negatively 
impact Ruth’s life for the remainder of her life.  He stated that he hoped the board would approve the request 
in spite the land use plan.  He added that he understood the precedent issue but he hoped common sense 
would prevail somewhere in the process.  
 
Mary Carole, Fayette County homeowner and frequent visitor of Lake Horton, stated that she was in 
opposition of the rezoning.  She said that she believed the rezoning was spot zoning.  She added that most of 
the county is zoned A-R on the south side and she would like to keep it a good portion of the County A-R.  
She said she would like to keep a good portion of the County A-R for the natural beauty and to minimize the 
stress and battering away of the County’s land.  She stated that land is permanent and people are not. She said 
that there was no law saying that the Sittons have to stay there.  She added that the Sittons could move or sell 
their piece of property.  She stated that Lake Horton was a rare jewel and that eagles and the yellow loon have 
nested there.  She added that there were plenty of places for families to live next door to each other in the 
County.  
 
Tom Lord stated that 100 yards up the road Hammock Bay subdivision sits on 69 acres and is zoned R-40.  
He added that prior to the Lake Horton being filled; the property where the lake is now the west boundary was 
R-40 according to the deed book.  He said that Hammock Bay which is a 100 feet from Ms. Sitton’s home is 
zoned R-40.  He stated that that half of Fayette County appears to be zoned A-R but going forward it will be 
hard for the County to sustain itself financially.  He added that people do change but Ms. Sitton has been at 
her property for 40 years and doesn’t want to move.  He stated that he and his wife are very responsible 
people who care about the area, the community, the property, and the resources.  He said that he understood 
Mary Carole’s position but he doesn’t think it’s a legitimate concern.  He added that Ms. Carole would feel 
differently if someone was telling her where she could live.  
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked the public to just the state the facts. 
 
Mary Carole stated that she does not believe that Hammock Bay subdivision bordered Lake Horton. 
 
Al Gaskins stated that the lot is four point three (4.3) acres and half of an acre less of the required five (5) 
acres.  He said if the lake was not where it was at or if the right-of-way for the road had not been taken or if 
the owners would have subdivided 15 years ago there would have been the five (5) acres.  
 
Arnold Martin III asked the Sittons if there were multiple dwellings/buildings on her property.  
 
The family responded no.  
 
Arnold Martin III asked if the Sittons planed on putting multiple structures on the land aside from a separate 
garage.  
 
Tom Lord replied that due to the floodplain, buffer, and the easement that Fayette County require there is only 
one place for a building to go on the lot.  He stated that he and his wife have not settled on a house because 
they did not know what they can do as far as the rezoning.  He said that his intent was to build a very nice 
home.  He added that he doesn’t know if they would build a free standing garage. 
 
Al Gilbert stated that this was not an easy situation.  He said it would be ideal if they could keep their 4.2 
acres and stay A-R and build, but that’s not possible.  He added that his concern would be to open this up for 
further rezoning’s in the area.  

4



Chairman Graw stated that Al Gilbert was talking about setting future precedent.  He added that he saw staff’s 
recommendation also and the recommendation was to deny based on the land use plan.  He said that Lot 
number two (2) only has 1.1 acres of contiguous area and two (2) acres of contiguous area is required for A-
R.  He stated that if the board was to recommend approval, and it went through the County would be 
approving a non-conforming lot. He added that the County cannot and will not recommend the approval of a 
non-conforming lot.  He said based on those two (2) items he would be voting against the rezoning request.  
 
John Culbreath stated that he was a strong believer where possible to conforming to the land use plan.  He 
added that there are special exceptions in many cases of something that won’t affect the overall plan.  He said 
that he would rather redo the plan instead of starting off with spot zoning.  He added that he knows it doesn’t 
appear that the board is taking the human aspect of the decision into consideration but they are.  He stated that 
if the board begins with one (1) precedent setting of this type then when other petitioners come before the 
board then we’re faced with trying to address their concerns in the same way.  He said that’s how you lose 
your handle on managing your land use plan.  He added that he believes that there has to be some work to 
developing an updated land use plan which could address some of the changes from A-R to residential with 
less than a five (5) acres.  He stated that based on what he has heard tonight he cannot in his position support 
the rezoning. 
 
Vice-Chairman Haren stated that the Planning Commission’s decision is only a recommendation and not the 
final decision.  
 
Jim Graw made a motion to recommend denial of the zoning petition. John Culbreth seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed 4-1 with Arnold martin voting in opposition to the motion. 
 
 
4. Consideration of Petition No. 1252-15, Jeffrey Anderson Jr., Owner, request to rezone 8.87 

acres from R-20 to A-R to develop a Single-Family Residential Lot.  This property is located in 
Land Lot 62 of the 4th District and fronts on Bankstown Road. 

 
 Vice-Chairman Haren asked if anyone was there to speak in favor of the rezoning. 
 
Jeff Anderson, owner of the property stated that he was an equipment manager in Fairburn and just recently 
moved to Brooks from Canton so he wouldn’t have a 70 mile commute every day.  He said he purchased an 
8.98 acre foreclosed property in Brooks.  He added that the foreclosed property had a dilapidated home that 
was an eye soar to the community and he has been working tirelessly to renovate the home since April.  He 
stated that he grew up on a farm and thought this piece of property was the ideal place to introduce his 
children to farm life.  He added that a lot of his surrounding neighbors already have livestock and parts of his 
land have barbered wire on it.  He said he never thought the property was zoned residential.  He added that the 
parcel he bought has two (2) residential lots.  He stated that he has gone through the necessary steps to have 
the farm he has dreamed of; those steps being having the property surveyed and platted as one property.  He 
requested that the property be zoned for agricultural use.  He showed the board a copy of the zoning map that 
had all surrounding properties zoned as A-R.  He stated that his family has been happy since he has moved to 
Fayette County and being able to participate in farming activities would make it perfect for them. 
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if anyone else would like to speak in favor of the petition. 
 
Audra Anderson, Jeff’s wife stated that she and her children are very excited to move to Fayette County.  She 
reiterated that they did have the property resurveyed into one (1) large lot. She said that having animals is 
something her and husband have been around all of their lives and they would like to raise their children 

5



around that environment.  She added that they were very invested in Fayette County and Brooks’ athletics.  
She stated that they purchased a very dilapidated home that was vacant for four (4) years.  She added that her 
neighbors have expressed their approval of them renovating the home.  She reemphasized that the property is 
surrounded by A-R.  She stated that they have enough acreage to do farming activities and raise animals.  She 
said that she appreciated them for listening to their petition for rezoning. 
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if anyone would like to speak in opposition of the petition.  
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked the board if they had any questions. 
 
Al Gilbert stated that A-R zoning is perfect for this lot.  
 
Chairman Graw stated that is was rare that you have a property that is going from a higher density to a lower 
density.  
 
Arnold Martin III asked staff for background on the property besides the rezoning that happened in 1972. 
 
Pete Frisina replied that the property was rezoned prior to 1972 and that the County did not have a land use 
plan back in those days.  He stated that he’s not sure when the property was rezoned, but knows that the 
property has been in existence for a long time.  
 
Vice Chairman Haren asked Pete Frisina if they were addressing all seven (7) lots indicated in yellow or the 
southernmost. 
 
Pete Frisina replied that it was just the southern one (1) which consist of lot seven (7) and eight (8).  He stated 
that the tax accessor still has it as one (1) parcel but it is indeed two (2) parcels.  
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if the properties north of that will remain R-20. 
 
Pete Frisina replied yes they will.  
 
Al Gilbert made a motion to recommend approval of the zoning petition with two (2) conditions. 
 
Al Gilbert read the following conditions: 
 

1. That a variance for the existing single-family dwelling’s encroachment into the 
side yard setback be obtained from the Zoning Board of Appeals within 180 days 
from the effective date of this rezoning and prior to the approval of the Minor 
Revision to a Final Plat. If the variance is denied, the owner/developer agrees to 
take all necessary action consistent with the direction of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals.  If the owner/developer fails to take action to obtain a decision from the 
Zoning Board of Appeals within 180 days and that time period has expired, the 
property owner agrees to remove that portion of the existing single-family 
dwelling encroaching into the side yard setback within 30 days from the date of 
the expiration.   (This condition is required for compliance with the Zoning 
Ordinance, Section 110-170.)  
 

2. That the Minor Revision to the Survey for P.K. Dixon Final Plat be revised to 
combine lots 7 and 8 to meet the minimum A-R five (5) acre requirement and 
depict the A-R setbacks prior to establishing any uses or structures permitted 
under the A-R zoning district. 

6



Chairman Graw asked the Jeffrey Anderson if he was aware of the conditions and if he agrees to the 
conditions.  
 
Jeffrey Anderson replied yes sir.  
 
Arnold Martin seconded the motion. The motion passed 5-0. 
 
 
5. Consideration of Petition No. RP-058-15, Jeffrey Anderson Jr., Owner, request to revise the 

Survey for P.K. Dixon Subdivision to add A-R uses to the subdivision. This property is located 
in Land Lot 62 of the 4th District and fronts on Bankstown Road. 

 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if Jeffrey or Audra Anderson wanted to address the revise plat petition.  
 
Jeffrey Anderson replied no.  
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if anyone would like to speak in opposition of the revise plat petition. 
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if the board had any questions or comments.  
 
Arnold Martin III made a motion to approve of the Revised Plat. John Culbreth seconded the motion. 
The motion passed 5-0. 
 
  
OLD BUSINESS 
 
6. Discussion of Amendments to the Fayette County Code of Ordinances, Chapter110. Article V., 

Sec. 110-169. Conditional use approval., to eliminate buffers between a Care home, 
convalescent center and/or nursing home, Cemetery, human or pet, Child care facility, Church 
and/or other place of worship, College and/or university, Hospital, Private school, or Recreation 
centers owned by nonprofit organizations as so registered with the Georgia Secretary of State 
Office that is in a residential or A-R zoning district.  

 
Pete Frisina stated that Dennis Dutton took the amendment to the board and they sent it back for 
reconsideration.  He then turned it over to Dennis Dutton.  
 
Dennis Dutton stated that the Board of Commissioners had some concern about the effect on other properties. 
He said the Board sent it back for the Planning Commissioners to look at it in a different way.  He stated that 
one (1) of the ideas presented to him was to do away with the blanket statement and look at the amendment 
individually for each conditional use.  He said the relief of the buffer would go to care homes, churches, 
schools, child care facilities, colleges/universities, hospitals, and recreational centers.  He added that the 
Board had issues with the wording “similar institutions” and asked that it be removed from the amendment 
due to the confusion it may cause.  He stated that John Lewis the Headmaster for Konos School was looking 
at acquiring the property next to Whitewater Church.  
 
Chairman Graw asked Dennis Dutton about the original amendment that was presented to the Board include 
commercial property.  
 
Pete Frisina replied they addressed it in Article 3 General Provisions.  He said that part of the ordinance 

7



oversees the entire aspect of everything within the ordinance.  He stated the way they had written it before it 
would remove all non-residential buffers if they were abutting a church or a school or a university.  He said 
that was a concern brought to him and Dennis.  He added that they inserted it into the conditional uses and 
relieved the buffers only in those instances; when two (2) churches are adjacent or when a church and a 
school are adjacent.  He added that commercial zoning next to a church would still need the buffers.  
 
Chairman Graw asked if they were going to need to insert that paragraph into each conditional use. 
 
Pete Frisina replied yes.  He stated that this is taking a very broad brush approach and making it more 
surgical.  He stated that they added care home and convalescent center.  He asked the board if a care home 
was a use they would want to include in the elimination of a buffer.  He added that care homes are the only 
use that is not allowed in a residential zoning district.  
 
Arnold Martin III asked why care home/convalescent centers were added to the amendment. 
 
Pete Frisina replied that he thinks it’s similar to the other uses.  He added that after he did this he didn’t 
realize it was not allowed in residential zoning districts.  He said that these uses abut each other and doesn’t 
relieve the buffers around the rest of the property only where they abut each other.  He stated that he found at 
least four (4) instances in the County where churches abut each other.  He added that there was an instance 
where a private school did abut a church.  He said that they all have buffer between them.  
 
Vice-Chairman Haren stated that he doesn’t have an issue with care homes, convalescent homes, or nursing 
centers.  He said it was something that he didn’t consider last time but it did make sense.  He asked staff if 
they were looking for a decision tonight. 
 
Pete Frisina replied that it was just a work discussion.  He added that there is no vote tonight and that there 
was nothing they needed to act on tonight.  
 
Al Gilbert asked if we feel good about this amendment we would then move to public hearing.  
 
Pete Frisina replied yes.  He said if we were to move forward we would schedule the  amendment for the 
November meeting with Planning Commission and the first meeting in december with the Board of 
Commissioners.  He stated that the Board of Commissioners wanted something brought back to them by the 
28th of January.  
 
Chairman Graw said he didn’t have an issue. 
 
Al Gilbert said he didn’t have an issue.  
 
John Lee Headmaster of Konos Academy stated that the board only added a wrinkle to the amendment and 
that doesn’t affect him.   
 
Pete Frisina stated that there are always concerns with this sort of thing and one of the concerns are what to do 
when two (2) churches abut each other.  He said you relieve them of their buffer where the properties abut.  
He added that if the church was to be sold and torn down and the developer decides to create a residential 
subdivision the buffer would be alleviated but not the setback.  He told the board to be aware that this was an 
issue and he did not know how to fix it.  He stated that if the two (2) churches were abutting each other in 
such a way that building couldn’t meet a buffer once a residential subdivision came back in, we’re not going 
to make them take the church down.  He stated that new structures would have to meet that buffer.   

8



Vice-Chairman Haren asked if they tore down the church and built a residential subdivision would the 
residential part of the zoning kick back in requiring a buffer with the church.  
 
Pete Frisina replied that if you had two (2) properties that were adjoining and you relieved the buffer, and 
they built on both of them not accommodating the buffer.  He then said that one (1) of them goes away it 
would be hard to tell the existing one (1) to take their property back 50 feet.  
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked would it not be necessary for the one that is bringing in the residential to have 
that buffer.  
 
Pete Frisina replied no that it only works one (1) way.  He said the houses don’t have to meet buffer the non-
residential structures do.  
 
Patrick Stough stated one potential controversy we have identified is where you have an existing church 
surrounded by residential which has the necessary buffers, and then another church comes in next to it, 
because of this change they would not have to get a buffer.  He said you have a situation where the first 
church did have to get a buffer and their being treated differently because they were there first.  He added that 
conditional uses are you meet the conditions you get the use.  He said when you start introducing situations 
where sometimes the conditions apply and sometimes they don’t you run the risk of watering down those 
conditions and that can undermine those conditions themselves they can also undermine all the conditional 
uses you have in your ordinance.  He added that this was something to consider as they bring this back. 
 
Arnold Martin III asked if it was possible to add additional language to protect or cover the “what if” 
scenarios.  
 
Patrick Stough stated we can always add language that we think will do what we want it to do, but there is 
always a possibly that the language will get a challenge.  He said his concern would be that they would give 
something and then taking it away from them in the future.  He added that land ownership is a very important 
right in this country that has a lot of protection on it.  He said they could find themselves in a takings lawsuit.  
 
Al Gilbert asked if a church comes in to an existing church can we tell the existing church you no longer need 
those buffers. 
 
Patrick Stough replied that we could say that, but the church has already been built.  
 
Al Gilbert asked what if the church wants to put in a tot lot, but they don’t have the room because of the 
buffers.  He then added that by removing the buffers they can put their tot lot in.  
 
Patrick Stough replied that is true.  
 
Al Gilbert added that by doing this we’re not denying them that right.  He said that it might be too late for 
them to do anything but he was wondering if this was a way around that for an existing church to eliminate 
their buffers. 
 
Patrick Stough replied that there are ways for them to take advantage of the loss of the buffer, but the 
fundamental one (1) would be the building of the main building and they already have done that.  
 
Vice Chairman Haren stated that if a church goes in they will have to incorporate that buffer, and then 10 
years later if another church comes in next to them they won’t have the buffer.  He added that you adhere to 

9



the rules that were in effect when you build your structure.  He then said the watering down of the ordinance 
he can see but how often would it be applied.  
 
Pete Frisina replied that there are five (5) instances right now that they could find existing.  He stated that they 
have another part of the verbiage under buffer that says if you’re next to a governmentally owned piece of 
property we don’t require you to have a buffer.  He said to date he doesn’t know if that would apply to anyone 
yet.  He added to keep the ordinance consistent they should remove care home/convalescent center out and 
only stick with those uses allowed in a residential zoning district.  He stated that convalescent centers and care 
homes are the only outliers and people may ask why these nonresidential uses get a pass, but none of the 
others do.  
 
Vice-Chairman Brian Haren asked the board how they felt about removing convalescent centers and care 
homes.  He then asked if any of the commissioners bring that up as a specific item. 
 
Pete Frisina replied no because they just added that in after the fact.  He stated that he just noticed on 
yesterday that the use wasn’t residentially zoned.  He added that if consistency is an issue then remove the 
outlier. 
 
Vice-Chairman Haren then asked if convalescent centers, care homes, or nursing homes were allowed in 
residential districts. 
 
Pete Frisina replied no. He said that these conditional uses are only allowed in C-C, C-H, and O-I.  He added 
that all of these other uses have a residential zoning allowance that one (1) does not.  
 
Dennis Dutton interjected saying the County codes deal with in-home care which limits the number based on 
the number of families, meets all the state regulations as far as inspections such as sprinklers.  He stated that 
there are ways for people to keep people in their homes but on a small scale.  He added that these were only 
for the large developments. 
 
Vice Chairman Haren asked what the board would be striking from this. 
 
Pete Frisina replied the part that says I. care home under number three (3) would be removed in total and then 
within the verbiage of the others care home would be removed.  He asked the board if they wanted another 
meeting to discuss this or did you want to move ahead to the 19th November. 
 
The board replied yes. 
 
Pete Frisina stated that he could get it to the board by the 10th of December.  
 
Chairman Graw asked if anyone had a problem with them taking this to a public hearing. 
 
The board replied no.  
 
Chairman Graw said let’s take it to a public hearing. 
 
Vice-Chairman Haren asked if there was any other business.  
 
 

****************** 

10



 

 

 

 

 

To:  Fayette County Planning Commission 

From:  Dennis. Dutton, Zoning Administrator 

Date:  November 13, 2015 

Subject: Minor Subdivision Plat to be considered on November 19, 2015 

 

MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT   OWNER/APPLICANT 

Minor Subdivision Plat of Brent Fayette, LLC   Brent Fayette, LLC 
 
 
Recommend APPROVAL for the Minor Subdivision Plat.  
 
 
  

11



 

 

 

 

 

To:  Fayette County Planning Commission 

From:  Dennis. Dutton, Zoning Administrator 

Date:  November 13, 2015 

Subject: Minor Subdivision Plat to be considered on November 19, 2015 

 

MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT   OWNER/APPLICANT 

Minor Subdivision Plat of the Michael Mask Estate   Michael Mask 
 
 
Recommend APPROVAL for the Minor Subdivision Plat.  
 
 
  

12



 
Al Gilbert made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Vice-Chairman Haren said the meeting was 
adjourned at 8:07 pm.  
 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION OF 
FAYETTE COUNTY 

 
            ___________________________                                               

JIM GRAW, CHAIRMAN 
ATTEST: 
_____________________________    

13



Sec. 110-169. - Conditional use approval.  

Conditional uses include certain uses which are allowed in a particular zoning district, 
provided that all conditions specified under this chapter are met. The zoning administrator shall 
issue a conditional use permit for each use listed below upon compliance with all specified 
conditions and approvals by the appropriate county officials.  

(1) Special regulations. Prior to the issuance of a conditional use permit and/or building 
permit, a site plan, as applicable to demonstrate compliance shall be submitted to the 
zoning administrator and approved by the applicable departments. This requirement 
shall apply to all conditional uses allowed within the various zoning districts except for: 
farm outbuildings, home occupations, single-family residences, and temporary 
meetings and/or events which are conducted no longer than 14 calendar days per 
year.  

(2) Conditional uses allowed.  

j. Cemetery, human or pet. Allowed in A-R and C-H zoning districts. A human 
cemetery is also allowed in conjunction with a church or other place of worship.  

1. Human cemetery.  

(i) The facility shall comply with all requirements of the state. 

(ii) Minimum lot area shall be ten acres. 

(iii) A crematorium or mausoleum shall be allowed only in conjunction with a 
cemetery. 

(iv) A crematorium shall be set back 300 feet from all property lines. 

(v) Grave sites shall meet the setbacks and buffers applicable to the underlying 
zoning district.  A buffer shall not be required along the common boundary 
where the side or rear yard abuts property developed for the following 
Conditional uses in a residential or A-R zoning district as regulated in Sec. 
110-169: Cemetery, human or pet, Child care facility, Church and/or other 
place of worship, College and/or university, Hospital, Private school, or 
Recreation centers owned by nonprofit organizations as so registered with the 
Georgia Secretary of State Office.  

(vi) Landscape areas shall be required and planted in accordance with chapter 
104. 

(vii) Graves for pets shall meet the requirements of subsection (2)j.2(ii), (iii) 
and (iv) of this section.  

2. Pet cemetery,  

(i) Minimum lot area shall be five acres. 

(ii) The remains of only one pet shall be buried in a single grave site and 
shall not be stacked one above another.  

(iii) The remains shall be a minimum of three feet below the grade. 

(iv) Cemetery plots shall be of sufficient size to provide for a minimum one 
foot undisturbed area between graves.  

14



(v) The owner/operator shall maintain and post a copy of the cemetery rules 
and regulations and a current burial plot diagram at all times.  

(vi) A pet cemetery shall be maintained in perpetuity via deed restrictions. 

(vii) Grave sites shall meet the setbacks and buffers applicable to the 
underlying zoning district. A buffer shall not be required along the 
common boundary where the side or rear yard abuts property developed 
for the following Conditional uses in a residential or A-R zoning district as 
regulated in Sec. 110-169: Cemetery, human or pet, Child care facility, 
Church and/or other place of worship, College and/or university, Hospital, 
Private school, or Recreation centers owned by nonprofit organizations as 
so registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office. 

(viii) Landscape areas shall be required and planted in accordance with 
chapter 104. 

l. Child care facility. Allowed in C-C, C-H, O-1, A-R, and MHP zoning districts, and 
church and/or other place of worship.  

1. The facility shall comply with all applicable licensing requirements of the state. 

2. Outdoor play areas shall be located to the side or rear of the principal building. 

3. At least 100 square feet of outdoor play area shall be provided for each child 
during the period of maximum attendance.  

4. A fence measuring at least four feet in height shall enclose the entire play 
area. 

5. If the side or rear yard abuts a residential or A-R zoning district, a minimum 
50-foot buffer shall be provided adjacent to the lot line. The side yard setback 
shall be 50 feet. The rear yard setback shall be 75 feet. The setback shall be 
measured from the buffer. Said requirements shall apply to all structures and 
outdoor play areas. A buffer shall not be required along the common boundary 
where the side or rear yard abuts property developed for the following 
Conditional uses in a residential or A-R zoning district as regulated in Sec. 
110-169: Cemetery, human or pet, Child care facility, Church and/or other 
place of worship, College and/or university, Hospital, Private school, or 
Recreation centers owned by nonprofit organizations as so registered with the 
Georgia Secretary of State Office.  

6. If adjoining a residential or A-R zoning district, the hours of operation shall be 
limited to: Monday through Saturday from 6:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., except that 
all exterior activities shall only occur from 9:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.  

7. A convenient vehicle drop-off area shall be provided which fully covers the 
vehicle when doors are open on both sides of the vehicle, permitting vehicles 
to re-enter the public street in a forward manner.  

8. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a major thoroughfare 
as designated by the county thoroughfare plan. All access is limited to the 
major thoroughfare only unless such use is within a nonresidential 
development which has access to a major thoroughfare.  

m. Church and/or other place of worship. Allowed in O-1, C-C, C-H, A-R, R-85, R-80, 
R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70, R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, and DR-15 zoning districts.  

15



1. The lot area shall be at least five acres, and the lot width at the building line 
shall be at least 400 feet.  

2. Such uses shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on a major 
thoroughfare as designated by the county thoroughfare plan. All access is 
limited to the major thoroughfare only.  

3. A minimum 50-foot buffer plus the required setbacks listed below shall 
separate all buildings and use areas from any residential or A-R zoning 
district. The setback shall be measured from the buffer. However, off-street 
parking areas and an unlit tot lot with a maximum size of 2,400 square feet 
may be located within the setback areas. A walking/running path or track may 
be located in the front yard setback. A buffer shall not be required along the 
common boundary where the side or rear yard abuts property developed for 
the following Conditional uses in a residential or A-R zoning district as 
regulated in Sec. 110-169: Cemetery, human or pet, Child care facility, Church 
and/or other place of worship, College and/or university, Hospital, Private 
school, or Recreation centers owned by nonprofit organizations as so 
registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office.  

4. Minimum setbacks for structures and use areas (excluding parking areas and 
tot lots as defined herein).  

(i) Front yard: 100 feet. 

(ii) Side yard: 50 feet. 

(iii) Rear yard: 75 feet. 

5. Uses and/or structures incidental to a church shall be limited to: a private 
school, parsonage, gymnasium, pool, playground, tot lot, outdoor athletic 
facility, child care facility, adult day care facility, administration, human 
cemetery (provided that all requirements for a cemetery herein are met), 
broadcast facility, including a tower (see article III of this chapter, general 
provisions), and seasonal sales (see this article, seasonal sales as outdoor 
displays) shall be allowed provided all buildings and use areas meet the 
minimum setback and buffer requirements.  

6. Only portable temporary lighting for athletic facilities shall be permitted and the 
athletic facility shall not be lighted or used after 10:00 p.m.  

7. Child care facilities shall be allowed provided that all requirements for child 
care facilities herein are met (see this article, child care facility).  

8. Adult day care facilities shall be allowed provided that all requirements for 
adult day care facilities herein are met (see this article, adult day care facility).  

9. Landscape areas shall be required in accordance with chapter 104. 

10. All buildings, other than storage buildings, shall maintain a decorative facing 
on those portions of the building which face public streets and any property 
zoned residential or agricultural-residential. The decorative facing shall consist 
of brick, stone, stucco, wood, or similar building materials compatible with the 
area.  

16



11. Accessory structures such as a storage building, detached garage, pavilion, 
and/or pool shall comply with the buffer and/or setback requirements and shall 
be located to the side/rear of the main sanctuary building.  

12. The construction of one open air pavilion utilized for picnics/social gatherings 
only is allowed under the following conditions:  

(i) The pavilion shall be constructed following the construction of the main 
sanctuary building;  

(ii) The floor area shall not exceed 40 percent of the square footage of the 
main sanctuary building; and  

(iii) The pavilion shall not be lighted or used after 10:00 p.m. 

If the open air pavilion is built in conjunction with lighted restrooms and/or an 
attached storage building, the overall square footage shall not exceed 40 
percent of the main sanctuary building square footage.  

13. Use of existing structure. When property containing legal structures 
(conforming or nonconforming), under the current zoning, is utilized as a 
church and/or place of worship under this section, the setback requirements 
only shall be reduced to the extent of, but only at the location of, any 
encroachment by the structures and said structures shall be considered 
legally nonconforming structures. The use of these structures shall be limited 
to administration, parsonage/residence, storage building, or detached garage.  

n. College and/or university, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, 
housing, athletic facility, gymnasium, and/or stadium. Allowed in the A-R, BTP, G-
B, O-I, C-C, and C-H zoning districts.  

1. The lot area shall be at least ten acres. 

2. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a major thoroughfare 
as designated by the county thoroughfare plan. All access is limited to the 
major thoroughfare only unless such use is within a nonresidential 
development which has access to a major thoroughfare.  

3. If the side or rear yard abuts a residential or A-R zoning district, a minimum 
50-foot buffer shall be provided adjacent to the lot line. A buffer shall not be 
required along the common boundary where the side or rear yard abuts 
property developed for the following Conditional uses in a residential or A-R 
zoning district as regulated in Sec. 110-169: Cemetery, human or pet, Child 
care facility, Church and/or other place of worship, College and/or university, 
Hospital, Private school, or Recreation centers owned by nonprofit 
organizations as so registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office.  

4. Minimum setbacks for structures and use areas (excluding parking areas) are 
as follows and shall be measured from the buffer, if applicable:  

(i) Front yard: 100 feet. 

(ii) Side yard: 50 feet. 

(iii) Rear yard: 75 feet. 

5. Uses and/or structures incidental to colleges and universities, such as a 
gymnasium, dormitory, fraternity, sorority, and/or outdoor athletic facility shall 

17



be allowed, provided all buildings and use areas meet the minimum setback 
and buffer requirements specified above.  

6. All buildings, other than storage buildings, shall maintain a decorative facing 
on those portions of the building which face public streets and any property 
zoned residential or agricultural-residential. The decorative facing shall consist 
of brick, stone, stucco, wood, or similar building materials compatible with the 
area.  

7. Accessory structures such as a storage building, detached garage, pavilion, 
and/or pool shall comply with the buffer and/or setback requirements and shall 
be located to the side/rear of the main building.  

aa. Hospital. Allowed in the C-C, C-H, O-1, and A-R zoning districts.  

1. Minimum lot size: ten acres. 

2. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a major arterial as 
designated by the county thoroughfare plan. All access is limited to the major 
arterial only unless such use is within a nonresidential development which has 
access to a major arterial.  

3. A minimum 50-foot buffer plus the required setbacks shall separate all 
buildings from any residential or A-R zoning district. A buffer shall not be 
required along the common boundary where the side or rear yard abuts 
property developed for the following Conditional uses in a residential or A-R 
zoning district as regulated in Sec. 110-169: Cemetery, human or pet, Child 
care facility, Church and/or other place of worship, College and/or university, 
Hospital, Private school, or Recreation centers owned by nonprofit 
organizations as so registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office.  

4. Minimum setbacks: 

(i) Front yard: 100 feet. 

(ii) Side yard: 50 feet. 

(iii) Rear yard: 50 feet. 

5. Support services, such as pharmacies, public cafeterias, and gift shops are 
allowed, provided such services are in conjunction with and accessory to, the 
hospital structure. Such businesses shall be conducted within the primary use 
structure and shall not exceed ten percent of the primary structure floor area. 
No outside advertising is allowed.  

6. Heliport. 

ll. Recreation centers and similar institutions owned by nonprofit organizations as so 
registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office. Allowed in the A-R zoning 
district.  

1. The lot area shall be at least five acres, and the lot width at the building line 
shall be at least 400 feet.  

2. Such uses shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on a major 
thoroughfare as designated by the county thoroughfare plan. All access is 
limited to the major thoroughfare only.  

18



3. A minimum 50-foot buffer plus the required setbacks listed below shall 
separate all buildings from any residential or A-R zoning district. The setback 
shall be measured from the buffer. A buffer shall not be required along the 
common boundary where the side or rear yard abuts property developed for 
the following Conditional uses in a residential or A-R zoning district as 
regulated in Sec. 110-169: Cemetery, human or pet, Child care facility, Church 
and/or other place of worship, College and/or university, Hospital, Private 
school, or Recreation centers owned by nonprofit organizations as so 
registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office.  

4. Minimum setbacks for structures and use areas: 

(i) Front yard: 100 feet. 

(ii) Side yard: 50 feet. 

(iii) Rear yard: 75 feet. 

5. All buildings, other than storage buildings, shall maintain a decorative facing 
on those portions of the building which face public streets and any property 
zoned residential or agricultural-residential. The decorative facing shall consist 
of brick, stone, stucco, wood, or similar building materials compatible with the 
area.  

6. Accessory structures such as a storage building, detached garage, pavilion, 
and/or pool shall comply with the buffer and/or setback requirements and shall 
be located to the side/rear of the main building.  

7. The construction of one open air pavilion shall not exceed 1,800 square feet, 
shall be utilized for picnics/social gatherings and shall not be lighted or utilized 
after 10:00 p.m.  

19



Transom means a horizontal opening over a door or window. 
 
Mullion means a heavy vertical or horizontal divider between windows or doors. 
 
Muntin means a narrow strip that divides or gives the appearance of individual 
panes of glass in a traditional sash. 
 
Parapet wall means a wall at the edge of a roof. 
 
Clapboard siding means a siding with horizontal boards or the appearance of 
horizontal boards. 
 
Cornice means a projecting feature surrounding a structure, dividing it 
horizontally for compositional purposes. 
 
 
(4) Architectural Forms and Standards.  Structures shall maintain the 

historical and aesthetic character of the area.  Starr’s Mill was built in the 
late 1800’s and is a significant historic resource in Fayette County. Starr’s 
Mill is indicative of turn of the century architectural character common in 
rural areas and is a building of influence in this area.  Other architectural 
forms such as One-Part Commercial Block and Two-Part Commercial 
Block associated with this period are acceptable for this overlay. Elevation 
drawings denoting compliance with these architectural forms shall be 
submitted and approved as part of the site plan approval process.   

 
a. Starr’s Mill: Starr’s Mill is a two story structure with a gable roof. 

The roof is corrugated metal.  The façade is wood clapboard siding 
and runs in a horizontal pattern.  The structure sits on a stacked 
stone pillar foundation.  Windows are wood framed with a grid 
muntin pattern.  Doors are also wood framed.  The structure has a 
covered porch with stairs and a wood picket rail banister.  The 
building is red, the windows and the window and door frames are 
white, the doors are red, the stairs, porch framing and banisters are 
white, the stair landings and porch decking are grey and the roof 
and porch covering is a grey corrugated metal.   

 
1. Roof: Gable roof with a minimum pitch of 10 inches in one 

(1) foot.  Roofing material shall be grey corrugated metal. 
2. Façade Material: Clapboard siding running in a horizontal 

pattern on all walls.  Acceptable sidings include wood and 
fiber-cement siding (i.e., Hardiplank). 

3. Doors and Windows: Doors and windows shall be white 
and have a frame and grid muntin pattern as established by 
Starr’s Mill.  Door and window frames shall be white with 
a minimum width of four (4) inches.  Grid pattern muntins 

20



shall be white.  Large display windows and glass doors 
shall give the appearance of grid pattern muntins and 
framing consistent with Starr’s Mill. Large display or 
storefront windows shall have a minimum two foot high 
bulkhead consistent with the Façade Materials above.   

4. Covered Entrance:  Covered entrances shall be in character
with the Starr’s Mill porch consisting of a gray corrugated
metal matching the roof of the main structure.  A white
wood picket rail banister with a minimum height of three
(3) feet shall extend the full length of the covered entrance
with a maximum entrance space of three (3) feet.  All
support structures shall be white.

b. One-Part Commercial Block: A popular commercial design from
the mid-19th to the early 20th century. The one-part commercial
block is a simple, one-story box with a flat or shed roof. Common
façade materials consist of brick with decorative block, stone, and
concrete accents. The focal point of front facade is the entrance
and windows, consisting of a recessed doorway and display
windows with a transom resting on a bulkhead (the lower panels
on which the windows rest) framed by pilasters.  Architectural
features include a cornice, belt course and parapet wall.

1. Façade Material: Brick shall be utilized on all walls as the
primary building material comprising a minimum of 75
percent of the wall excluding doors and windows.  The
remaining 25 percent of the wall may consist of rough face
decorative block, stone, and concrete accents.

2. Entrance Doors and Windows:  The entrance door and
windows component shall consist of entrance door (s),
display windows, door and window transoms and bulkhead.
Door and window frames may be constructed with wood or
metal.  An anodized silver finish shall not be allowed for
metal door and window frames. Transoms shall be a
minimum of two (2) feet high and shall be separated from
the window and door by a mullion with a minimum width
of four (4) inches.  A minimum two foot high bulkhead
consistent with the Façade Materials above shall be
required.

3. Architectural Features:   A cornice is required. The cornice
shall be a minimum of one (1) foot in height with a
minimum projection of ____ inches from the main façade.
The projection may be gradual.  A parapet wall is required
along the front and side walls of the structure and shall be a
minimum of two (2) feet in height.

21



c. Two-Part Commercial Block: A popular commercial design from 
the mid-19th to the early - 20th century.  These buildings have two 
primary components – first floor storefronts (similar in design to a 
One-Part Commercial Block) and upper floors which historically 
were used for residential or office space. The focal point of first 
floor is the entrance and windows, consisting of a recessed 
doorway and display windows with a transom resting on a 
bulkhead (the lower panels on which the windows rest) framed by 
pilasters.  Upper floors have one or more floors of smaller 
symmetrically positioned windows.   Architectural features include 
a cornice, belt course and parapet wall.  Common façade materials 
consist of brick with decorative block, stone, and concrete accents. 

 
1.  Façade Material: Brick shall be utilized on all walls as the 

primary building material comprising a minimum of 75 
percent of the wall excluding doors and windows.  The 
remaining 25 percent of the wall may consist of rough face 
decorative block, stone, and concrete accents. 

2. Entrance Doors and Windows (first floor storefronts):  The 
entrance door and windows component shall consist of 
entrance door (s), display windows, door and window 
transoms and bulkhead. Door and window frames may be 
constructed with wood or metal.  An anodized/silver finish 
shall not be allowed for metal door and window frames. 
Transoms shall be a minimum of two (2) feet high and shall 
be separated from the window and door by a mullion with a 
minimum width of four (4) inches.  A minimum two foot 
high bulkhead consistent with the Façade Materials above 
shall be required.   

3. Upper Floor Windows:  Upper floor windows shall be 
symmetrically positioned.  

4. Architectural Features:   A cornice is required. The cornice 
shall be a minimum of one (1) foot in height with a 
minimum projection of ____ inches from the main façade.  
The projection may be gradual.   A belt course with a 
minimum projection of ____ inches from the main façade 
shall be required between the first floor and the second 
floor. A parapet wall is required and shall be a minimum of 
two (2) feet in height.  

d. Lighting:   
1. All wall lighting shall consist of period lantern or goose 

neck pendant lighting.  These restrictions shall not apply to 
wall lighting required by the Fire Marshal.    

2. All pole lighting shall consist of period post top globe, 
lantern, or pendant luminaries with rapid-ship posts. 

e. Within the 50 foot front landscape area a wall or fence is required 

22



to run along a minimum of 40 percent of the frontage.  The wall or 
fence may be a minimum three (3) foot high stacked rock wall or a 
minimum four (4) foot high fence with the appearance of wrought 
iron, split rail, picket, or rail horse fence.     

f. Gasoline Canopy.  Gasoline canopies shall comply with the
following requirements:
1. Gasoline canopies may be attached to the principal

structure as an extension of the structure/roof.
2. The vertical clearance under the gasoline canopy shall not

exceed a maximum of 18 feet in height.  The height of the
gasoline canopy shall not be more than five feet above the
height of the principal structure

3. The gasoline canopy and support structure shall match the
architectural character, materials, color and roof of the
principal structure. Gasoline canopies, in conjunction with
a convenience commercial establishment built in the
architectural form of Starr’s Mill, may reduce the roof pitch
to a minimum of four (4) inches to one (1) foot.  .

g. The design of ancillary buildings shall be consistent with the
architectural style inherent in the principal structure on the property.

23



 



 

25


	Untitled



